

# International Politics Sub-Saharan Africa

AfCFTA:

A Beacon of Hope or a Failed Project?

James Shikwati

The African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA) initiative is a beacon of hope towards the establishment of the largest free trade area with a youthful population in the World. The AfCTA is significant step towards an African Economic Community whose vision was established in the Abuja Treaty of 1991. The quest to integrate 55 nation-states with over 1.3 billion people offers the opportunity for growth, economic diversification, and a combined GDP of USD\$ 3.4 trillion. The AfCFTA is handicapped by distrust, less innovative and non-productive private sector, fragile regional economic blocs, and absence of combined demonstratable agency to navigate the dynamic geopolitical environment. The AfCFTA should learn from its pre-slavery trade and investment networks and domesticate strategies from regions that learnt from their dismal past to build a productive present and future.

# **CONTENTS**

Introduction	4
The AfCTA's Big Promise	4
The Big Obstacles Facing ACFTA:	5
1. The Challenge of Distrust in Africa	5
2. Non-Innovative African Private Sector	5
3. Overlapping Memberships	6
4. Informality and Intra African Trade	6
5. Inadequate infrastructure	6
6. Over-reliance on External Partners	7
7. Labor Standards and Climate Change	7
8. Fragile Africa RECS	7
Lessons from Germany	8
Conclusion	9
References	10
About the Autor	14
About the Region	14
Impressum	14



#### Introduction

The establishment of the AfCFTA is a major milestone in a six phased implementation plan of the of regional integration outlined in Article VI of the 1991 treaty in Abuja Nigeria that created steps towards an African Economic Community (O.A.U., 1991). The AfCFTA was launched on January 1, 2021, and by September 2022, 54 countries had signed the agreement while 43 countries had deposited ratification instruments. The implementation of the agreement is gradual to accommodate least developed country members. AfCTA aims to spur industrialisation and prosperity in Africa through intra-Africa trade by eliminating 97% of tariff lines on goods and services (APRI, 2023). The quest for a unified continent dates to May 25, 1963, when Ethiopian Emperor Haile Selassie hosted independent nations at that time to establish the Organization of African Unity. The outfit's membership grew to the current 55 under the current African Union that took over from the Organization of African Unity in 2002 (A.U., 2002).

## The AfCTA's Big Promise

The AfCFTA is a single continental market with over 1.3 billion people and a combined domestic product (GDP) estimated at USD\$3.4 trillion (World Bank, 2020). Africa has the fastest growing and most youthful population in the World. It accounted for 19% of global youth population in 2019 and this is projected to rise to up to 42% by 2030 (UNDP, 2023). The AfCTA is expected to boost intra-African trade by 52.3% by 2025 (UNECA, 2019); a target that is slightly higher than North American Free Trade Agreement at 47% but lower compared to Asia at 61% and Europe at 67% (UNCTAD, 2019). The AfCFTA has made currency convertibility across Africa easier through the Pan-African Payments and Settlements System (PAPSS) to overcome currency convertibility constraints. PAPSS is a centralized payment and settlement system for intra-African trade in goods and services using local currencies to bypass the need for a third currency, such as the United States of America's Dollar or the Euro in a continent that currently has approximately 42 mosaic of currencies (Mkhonta, 2024).

AfCFTA's building blocks drawn from 55 African countries are anchored on 8 major Regional Economic Blocs namely: the Arab Maghreb Union (UMA); Common Market of Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA); Community of Sahel-Saharan States (CEN-SAD); East African Community (EAC); Economic Community of Central African States (ECCAS); Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS); Inter Governmental Authority on Development (IGAD) and Southern African Development Community (SADC). The resultant integrated market is projected to increase Africa's income by up to \$450 billion by 2035 (World Bank; 2020), lift 50 million Africans out of extreme poverty (World Bank, 2022) and catapult the African economy to reach the \$29 trillion mark by 2050 (Urama,2020). Further, it will increase Africa's exports by \$560 billion, mostly in manufacturing (Takefman, 2023), a sector that contributes only 10% to Africa's GDP, compared to 20% in East Asia and the Pacific, and 15% in Latin America and the Caribbean. Manufacturing output could increase from the \$500 billion currently to \$1.7 trillion by 2030, potentially creating up to 14 million jobs (Bekele-Thomas, 2023).

The AfCFTA will spur larger wage gains for women (10.5%) than for men (9.9%) and boost wages for both skilled and unskilled workers – 10.3% for unskilled workers, and 9.8% for skilled workers (Tayo, 2023). On agriculture and agro-processing, intra-African trade in agriculture is expected to increase by 574% by 2030 if tariffs are eliminated under the AfCFTA.

The AfCFTA will help increase intra-African trade in pharmaceuticals, which is currently extremely low (only 3% of demand is met by intra-African trade), leading to more resilient health supply chains. On the side of transport and logistics, the AfCFTA is projected to increase intra-African trade demand by 28%, with demand for almost 2 million trucks, 100,000 rail wagons, 250 aircraft and more than 100 vessels by 2030 (WEF, 2023).

## The Big Obstacles Facing ACFTA

## 1. The Challenge of Distrust in Africa

Trade routes and investments anchored on trust had for centuries played a critical role in promoting intra-Africa trade and growth of chiefdoms and empires on the continent. The onset of internationalized slave trade jolted the once thriving trade and market systems and planted the seed of the current different trust levels across Africa (Nunn & Wantchekon, 2011). The scramble for Africa by European colonial powers, weakened further indigenous economies and trading systems. African economies were subordinated to the interests of Europe during the colonial period through establishment of commodity-based trading system, cash crop Agriculture system and trade systems that served the interests of the colonists (Settles, J.D. 1996). The legacy of subordinated economy systems to external interests thrives to date. The environment of ubiquitous insecurity was reinforced by colonial systems and perpetuated during the big power competitions of the Cold War era that sowed seeds of disunity, conflict, coups, and war.

The modern-day Mali, Senegal, Gambia, Guinea, Guinea Bissau, Cote d'Ivoire, Burkina Faso, Ghana, Benin, and Nigeria were for instance, once under the Wangara trading and investment network. The Wangara trading and investment network had a unique African brand of product distribution, arbitrage, financing, manufacturing, credit, mining, currency swaps, bartering and long-distance trade (Mcnamee & Pearson, 2011). The Swahili Indian Ocean Network connected central and Eastern Africa markets and products to the Indian Ocean coast. The Trans-Saharan network connected markets and products of West and North Africa with the modern-day Middle East and Europe. The Nile Valley network connected Egypt, Nubia, Ethiopia, and Sudan. The Zambezi and Zimbabwe trade routes linked markets of Southern Africa, Central and Indian Ocean (Ochonu, 2015).

#### 2. Non-Innovative African Private Sector

As African countries emerged from colonial status, indigenous private entrepreneurs turned to their governments for what they regarded as indispensable assistance. African businessmen, hampered by strong expatriate competitors (in many cases dominating their sectors); foreignowned banks unwilling to provide them with necessary credits; their own managerial weakness; and by other severe disabilities, concluded that the broad and generous patronage of the central government was essential to the realization of their aspirations for greater wealth and economic power (Esseks, 1971). Access to finance remains a major obstacle to Africa's private sector which largely comprises of Micro, Small and Medium Sized enterprises (MSMEs). It is estimated that 70% of 55 – 67 million such businesses are financially underserved with funding needs that range from USD\$ 385 to USD\$ 455 billion (AFDB, 2011). MSMEs account for 80-90% of all businesses in Africa and largely characterized by trader-merchant activities and rarely introduce innovations, new technology and new capabilities (IREN, 2019).

### 3. Overlapping Memberships

Overlapping membership across African Regional Economic Communities creates conflicts and contradictions stemming from the "spaghetti bowl effect (Macleod & David, 2013). Multiple memberships create inconsistencies and challenge the quest for integration. A country that belongs to multiple regional economic communities is burdened by multiple financial obligations, different meetings, policy decision challenges, procedures, and schedules (Afesorgbor, S.K. & Peter, A.G.B; 2014). The question of productive capacity and industrialization levels also comes into play. Countries that are better positioned to dominate trade under the AfCFTA include Mauritius, South Africa, Tunisia, and Egypt. While this domination is not negative, it ties back to the notion of the "winners" and "losers" created by free trade (Tayo, 2021).

## 4. Informality and Intra African Trade

Intra Africa trade estimated at 14.4% the lowest in comparison to other regions such as North America, Europe and Asia masks the reality of undocumented informal cross country trade volumes (Afreximbank; 2020). The true extent of intra Africa trade remains undocumented due to informal logistics and trade patterns. Formal data over the past 10 years, however, intra-Africa trade indicate slight growth from US\$ 98 billion in 2013 to US\$ 102 billion in 2022. Despite this performance, intra-Africa trade as a share of Africa's global trade has remained stagnant if not exhibiting a downward trend. After reaching a peak of 21% between 2015 and 2016, current estimates show intra-Africa trade at 14-15% of Africa's global trade (Tralac, 2023).

Non-tariff barriers such as corruption and bureaucratic red tape are slowing the smooth flow of AfCFTA. Most African countries produce similar products, largely raw commodities. Little or no value addition is done to the products produced. Scaling up these products is key (Tralac, 2023). Poor leadership has seen exports from Tunisia and Cameroon often finding their way to French warehouses before being redirected to each other's market shelves (Babalola, 2023). Corruption affects more than 60% of public procurement in Africa and increases the cost of contracts by 20 to 30%. In a world characterized by limited resources, this is an unfortunate cost for investments that are greatly needed. At least 1080 cases of transboundary corruption in Africa occurred between 1995 and 2014 (UNECA, 2016).

# 5. Inadequate infrastructure

Poor transportation networks and border facilities, which are critical to the implementation of a free trade zone, are a major drawback (Audu, 2023). There is need to improve the continent's infrastructure, which requires \$130-170 billion annually. The continent is currently experiencing a \$68-108 billion funding gap, resulting in only 34 per cent of the population having access to electricity and 40 per cent living more than 5km from the nearest all-season road. This accounts for up to 40 per cent of the cost of trading goods between African nations (Bekele-Thomas, 2023).

#### 6. Over-reliance on External Partners

One of Africa's most difficult problems is its over-reliance on external partners. Investments are linked to the export of value systems. A balance must be found here, as investments such as China's Belt and Road Initiative play a crucial role in infrastructure development (Kaczmarek, 2020). The West supply a significant part of the financial and technical support for the AfCFTA due to low average incomes and constrained fiscal space in African countries. This support by the United Nations, the European Union, the German Development Agency (GIZ), the United Kingdom's Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Agency, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development and a host of other governmental and non-governmental organizations presents issues related to sustainability and diverse geopolitical interests. The support is likely to wane with changing donor interests. The involvement of foreign expertise in the support of negotiation of instruments such as the Investment Protocol could introduce non-African agendas into the policy documents (APRI, 2023).

The global environment and geopolitics, such as external efforts towards establishing bilateral trade agreements with state parties, continue to intersect with the AfCFTA (Richardson, 2023). Changes in the global political economy can cause countries to withdraw from regional arrangements and look more inwards (Ahmed, 2020).

# 7. Labor Standards and Climate Change

African countries are highly vulnerable to climate change, in terms of both climate change mitigation and adaptation (Harary, 2018). Climate change can impact trade between African countries negatively, especially where agricultural products are concerned. It can make agricultural production more costly and escalate trade product costs due to delays caused by extreme weather patterns such as landslides and floods. Impact on climate is projected not only through emissions from trucks due to increased trade but also through the production component that generates waste, pollutes ecosystems, and destroys natural habitats (Geneva, 2014). Just because a mineral is labeled 'green' doesn't mean that the process of extraction, refinement, beneficiation, export, and consumption is also green (ECA, 2023).

Labour standards are not part of the AfCFTA as such, there are no specific provisions targeting child labour based on the ILO conventions, such as abolition of child labour. International Labor Organization Convention 138 relates to the minimum age of employment and 182 regards worst forms of child labor (Kasirye and Matshalanga, 2020). Trade and most of the African economy, remains biased in favour of men due to social inequalities and a disempowering patriarchal culture that subordinates women. As a result of these gender constraints, women are more likely than men to engage in informal trade. (Ngom, 2023).

# 8. Fragile Africa RECS

Fragility among the Regional Economic Communities in Africa is adversely affecting the AfCTFA initiative. The disruptions of trade flows due to military conflicts sometimes lead to changes in economic structures of countries, changes in trade policies and to the disruption of established trade patterns in regional and multilateral trade arrangements (Krpec and Hodulak, 2019).

The phrase, 'Coalition of the Willing', emerged in East Africa in 2013, when three East African Community (EAC) members (Kenya, Uganda, and Rwanda) forged a Tripartite Initiative to fast-track the EAC regional integration. The resultant sidelining of Tanzania, and Burundi, for their perceived 'aloofness' to integration created tensions among the five countries, aggravating an already simmering conflict between Tanzania and Rwanda involving the expulsion of 'illegal' Rwandan migrants from Tanzania (Njuguna and Jjuuko, 2020).

Currently, the West African nations of Niger, Mali and Burkina Faso have declared their exit from the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) for allegedly being pressed to return to democratic rule. The leaders of the three Sahel nations claim that their "sovereign decision" to leave the ECOWAS "without delay," is informed by ECOWAS' "inhumane" sanctions against their countries, "under the influence of foreign powers." ECOWAS suspended the trio following military coups that overthrew their democratically elected governments — in Niger last July, in Burkina Faso in 2022 and in Mali in 2020 and 2021 (VOA, 2024).

The Maghreb Arab Union (UMA), with five member states, is weakly integrated and suffers from the perennial Algeria and Morocco conflict and the 2011 implosion of the Libyan government. Its member states have sought membership in established RECs with little success. Morocco attempt to join ECOWAS in 2017 was thwarted when Nigeria, the bloc's biggest member, was reluctant to give it a nod. Relations between the AU and RECs/RMs remain problematic, despite several attempts to achieve a strict division of labor.

# **Lessons from Germany**

The AfCTA positions Regional Economic Blocs as the foundation on which to build the Africa Economic Community. Less emphasis is placed on African entrepreneurs, Micro, Small and Medium and Enterprises (MSMEs). Africa's private sector requires an urgent and deliberate recalibration from the majority merchant-trader orientation (IREN; 2019) and poverty-survivalist driven MSMEs (Herr, Hansjörg; Nettekoven, Zeynep Mualla; 2018) to the German type MSME model that thrives on innovation and value addition to Global Supply and Value Chains. Focus only on financing MSMEs in Africa misses the additional critical German approach that encourages MSMEs to innovate and provide quality inputs and components to established supply and value chains. For instance, a car is an aggregation of various components such as wipers, tyres, lights, batteries, brakes, music systems among others that are produced by different companies. The AfCFTA should borrow this type of German mindset to tap into the African mosaic of natural resources, youthful skillset, cultures, and industries to activate productivity and markets in the region.

Germany's emphasis on historical and cultural craftsmanship that invests in skills and precision engineering can be used to revive the mosaic of cultural craftsmanship that is dotted across Africa. Modernizing and building on existing indigenous African craftsmanship can accelerate domestication of quality and standards in Africa. German can offer its experience as a logistical hub in Europe to selected African hub centres to speed up movement of good in the AfCTA.

The German expert and technical support to the AfCFTA Secretariat and the AU Commission in the areas of AfCFTA negotiations and implementation should incorporate the reality of informal intra Africa trade. The AfCFTA still has great room for African and German actors to engage frequently on a peer to-peer basis based on mutual sharing of experiences in regional integration.

Germany should place the AfCFTA at the heart of its trade policy support activities and champion the harmonization of EU trade policies for Africa to align with rules of origin, tariff reduction schedules, and non-tariff barriers reduction commitments. The country should identify areas of mutual synergy with Africa such as green industrialization, skills development, innovation, and infrastructural gaps. Germany should learn to listen to Africans and Africans aspirations to grow a mutual and beneficial partnership.

#### Conclusion

The AfCFTA is indeed a beacon of hope in Africa as work in progress towards an African Economic Community. The challenge remains on how to activate and recalibrate the continent's private sector to contribute to productivity and social upgrading of the continent. Strategic prioritization to incentivise informal intra Africa trade is an additional key plank to the focus on regional economic blocs as a foundation for the AfCTA. Emphasis on free trade area protocols without investing in the innovation and value addition capabilities of the indigenous African MSMEs is likely to make the aspiration of AfCFTA a failed project meant to only benefit developed economies in Asia and the West. The AfCTA need to be agile enough to navigate the ever-changing geopolitical reality to situate dream of a continental economic community that connects to both old and the emerging global economic formations.

#### References

Afesorgbor, S.K. & Peter, A.G. Bergeijk (2014) Measuring Multi-Membership in Economic Integration and its Trade Impact: A comparative Study of ECOWAS and SADC <a href="https://pure.au.dk/ws/files/69192668/wp14\_06.pdf">https://pure.au.dk/ws/files/69192668/wp14\_06.pdf</a>

Afreximbank, (2020) African Trade Report 2020: Informal Cross-Border Trade in Africa in the Context of AfCTA <u>African-Trade-Report-2020.pdf (afr-corp-media-prod.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com)</u>

African Union. Theme of The Year 2023: "Acceleration of Afcfta <u>Implementation."</u> <u>https://au.int/en/theme/2023/acceleration-of-afcfta-implementation</u>

Ahmed, U. (2020). The Geopolitics of Africa's Free Trade Area (AfCFTA). The Geopolity. <a href="https://thegeopolity.com/2020/09/10/the-geopolitics-of-africas-free-trade-area-afcfta/">https://thegeopolity.com/2020/09/10/the-geopolitics-of-africas-free-trade-area-afcfta/</a>

Akinkugbe, O.D. (2019). Negotiating the AfCFTA in the Shadow of International and Regional Struggle for Power: A Caution! Afronomicslaw. <a href="https://www.afronomicslaw.org/2019/01/19/negotiating-the-afcfta-in-the-shadow-of-international-and-regional-struggle-for-power-a-caution">https://www.afronomicslaw.org/2019/01/19/negotiating-the-afcfta-in-the-shadow-of-international-and-regional-struggle-for-power-a-caution</a>

APRI, (2023). The Road to Africa's Single Market: Progress so far and challenges for the future. Africa Policy Research Institute, Berlin, Germany. Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 3.0 IGO. AUDA-NEPAD (2023). AfCFTA – Africa Controls its Destiny. <a href="https://www.nepad.org/news/afcfta-africa-controls-its-destiny">https://www.nepad.org/news/afcfta-africa-controls-its-destiny</a>

Audu, P.F. (2023). A Fading Dream of Pan-Africanism? The Republic. <a href="https://republic.com.ng/africa-2/african-continental-free-trade-area/">https://republic.com.ng/africa-2/african-continental-free-trade-area/</a>

Ayittey, G.B. N. (2019). Indigenous African Free-Market Liberalism. African Liberty. <a href="https://www.africanliberty.org/2019/06/01/indigenous-african-free-market-liberalism/">https://www.africanliberty.org/2019/06/01/indigenous-african-free-market-liberalism/</a> Babalola, Y. (2023). Examining Barriers Hindering Intra-African Trade. Leadership News.

Bekele-Thomas, N. (2023) AfCFTA: Seizing opportunities for a prosperous Africa. Africa Renewal. <a href="https://www.un.org/africarenewal/magazine/may-2023/afcfta-seizing-opportunities-prosperous-africa">https://www.un.org/africarenewal/magazine/may-2023/afcfta-seizing-opportunities-prosperous-africa</a>

Beverton, A. (2009). Organization of African Unity (1963-2002). Black Past. <a href="https://www.blackpast.org/global-african-history/organization-african-unity-1963-2002/">https://www.blackpast.org/global-african-history/organization-african-unity-1963-2002/</a>

Cassinath, N. and Mercer, M. (2020). Youth, Women, and Market Systems Development in Agriculture and Supporting Markets: Landscape Analysis and Case Studies Report. AWE Call Order 7200AA19F50034. Rockville, MD: EnCompass

LLC.<u>https://beamexchange.org/uploads/filer\_public/c7/fe/c7fea0a1-1119-4141-ac44-29e18c3cbc95/youth\_women\_and\_msd\_in\_agriculture\_and\_supporting\_markets.pdf</u>

Dludla, S. (2024). AfCFTA vows to extend free-trade regime to 31 countries this year. IOL. <a href="https://www.iol.co.za/business-report/economy/afcfta-vows-to-extend-free-trade-regime-to-31-countries-this-year-37fa791e-dae1-4279-b569-70fe541a1bb5">https://www.iol.co.za/business-report/economy/afcfta-vows-to-extend-free-trade-regime-to-31-countries-this-year-37fa791e-dae1-4279-b569-70fe541a1bb5</a>

ECA (2023). Africa's Trade and Green Transition: A Continentally Coordinated Approach. <a href="https://www.uneca.org/eca-events/cop28/africas-trade-green-transition-continentally-coordinated-approach">https://www.uneca.org/eca-events/cop28/africas-trade-green-transition-continentally-coordinated-approach</a>

Geneva, (2014). Climate Change, Food Security and Trade: Evidence from the East African Community. Briefing Paper.

Harary, (2018). 'African Free Trade Could Increase Resilience to Climate Change and Conflict.

Munang, R. The African Continental Free Trade Agreement: Making It Count for People and Planet. This is Africa. <a href="https://thisisafrica.me/politics-and-society/african-free-trade-agreement-making-count-people-planet/">https://thisisafrica.me/politics-and-society/african-free-trade-agreement-making-count-people-planet/</a>

Herr, H., Nettekoven, Zeynep, Mualla, (2018). The role of small and medium-sized enterprises in development: What can be learned from the German experience?, Global Labour University Working Paper, No. 53, International Labour Organization (ILO), Geneva. <a href="https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/189840/1/GLU-WP-No53.pdf">https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/189840/1/GLU-WP-No53.pdf</a>

IREN, (2019). Unlocking Business and Economic Opportunities for SMEs: Tech hubs as a Game Changer in East Africa; Nairobi Kenya.

Kaczmarek, F. (2020) African Dimension of the Belt and Road Initiative <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/338336998\_African\_Dimension\_of\_the\_Belt\_and\_Road\_Initiative">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/338336998\_African\_Dimension\_of\_the\_Belt\_and\_Road\_Initiative</a>

Kasirye, I. and Matshalaga, N. (2020). The African Continental Free Trade Area Agreement: Its Implications On Cross-Border Issues Affecting Children. Girls Advocacy Alliance (GAA).

Krpec, O., and Hodulak, V. (2019). War and international trade: Impact of trade disruption on international trade patterns and economic development. Brazilian Journal of Political Economy. <a href="https://www.scielo.br/j/rep/a/8fXLkKsKQ8bLMf6nBBMrnWK/#">https://www.scielo.br/j/rep/a/8fXLkKsKQ8bLMf6nBBMrnWK/#</a>

McNamee, T.P.M. & Boer, W. (Editors) (2011). African Investing in Africa: Understanding Business and Trade Sector by Sector.

https://www.academia.edu/14211314/The\_Wangara\_Trading\_Network\_in\_Precolonial\_West\_Africa\_a\_An\_Early\_Example\_of\_Africans\_Investing\_in\_Africa\_

Mkhonta, N. (2024). Eswatini Ready to Trade Under AFCFTA. Times of Swaziland.

Musengele, B. (2021). AfCFTA: A Stimulant to Intra- COMESA Trade. <a href="https://www.comesa.int/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/AfCFTA-Stimulant-for-Intra-COMESA-Trade-24.2.21.pdf">https://www.comesa.int/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/AfCFTA-Stimulant-for-Intra-COMESA-Trade-24.2.21.pdf</a>

Mustafa, Z. (2024). Africa Continental Free Trade Area Agreement (AfCFTA): A Path to Prosperity for Africa. Strathmore University Business School. <a href="https://sbs.strathmore.edu/africa-continental-free-trade-area-agreement-afcfta-a-path-to-prosperity-for-africa/">https://sbs.strathmore.edu/africa-continental-free-trade-area-agreement-afcfta-a-path-to-prosperity-for-africa/</a>

Ngom. M. (2023). AfCFTA: Reaping the benefits of the world's most youth and women-friendly trade agreement. Africa Renewal. <a href="https://www.un.org/africarenewal/magazine/february-2023/afcfta-reaping-benefits-world%E2%80%99s-most-youth-and-women-friendly-trade-agreement">https://www.un.org/africarenewal/magazine/february-2023/afcfta-reaping-benefits-world%E2%80%99s-most-youth-and-women-friendly-trade-agreement</a>

Njuguna, J. and Jjuuko, M. (2020). A framing analysis of mainstream newspaper coverage of the 2013 'Coalition of the Willing' initiative in East Africa. Journal of African Media Studies, Volume 12, Issue Political Communication in East Africa.

Njuguna, J. and Jjuuko, M. (2020). A framing analysis of mainstream newspaper coverage of the 2013 'Coalition of the Willing' initiative in East Africa. Journal of African Media Studies, Volume 12, Issue Political Communication in East Africa. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1386/jams\_00022\_1">https://doi.org/10.1386/jams\_00022\_1</a>

Nunn, T. and Wantchekon, L. (2011). The Slave Trade and the Origins of Mistrust in Africa. <a href="https://www.princeton.edu/~lwantche/The\_Slave\_Trade\_and\_the\_Origins\_of\_Mistrust\_in\_Africa\_Use\_This\_One">https://www.princeton.edu/~lwantche/The\_Slave\_Trade\_and\_the\_Origins\_of\_Mistrust\_in\_Africa\_Use\_This\_One</a>

OAU, (1991). The Treaty Establishing the African Economic Community <a href="https://au.int/sites/default/files/treaties/37636-treaty-0016\_-">https://au.int/sites/default/files/treaties/37636-treaty-0016\_-</a><a href="treaty\_establishing\_the\_african\_economic\_community\_e.pdf">treaty\_establishing\_the\_african\_economic\_community\_e.pdf</a>

Ochonu, M.E. (2015). The Wangara Trading Network in Precolonial West Africa: An Early Example of Africans Investing in Africa. In: McNamee, T., Pearson, M., Boer, W. (eds) Africans Investing in Africa. Palgrave Macmillan, London. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137542809\_2">https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137542809\_2</a>

Okwatch, D. (2023). Africa's free trade on track, more efforts needed. Africa Renewal. <a href="https://www.un.org/africarenewal/magazine/january-2023/africa%E2%80%99s-free-trade-track-more-efforts-needed">https://www.un.org/africarenewal/magazine/january-2023/africa%E2%80%99s-free-trade-track-more-efforts-needed</a>

Richardson, (2023). Self-interest trumps continental trade at AfCFTA negotiations. Southern Africa's Freight News. <a href="https://www.freightnews.co.za/article/self-interest-trumps-continental-trade-afcfta-negotiations">https://www.freightnews.co.za/article/self-interest-trumps-continental-trade-afcfta-negotiations</a>

Settles, Joshua Dwayne, (1996) "The Impact of Colonialism on African Economic Development." Chancellor's Honors Program Projects <a href="https://trace.tennessee.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?">https://trace.tennessee.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?</a> <a href="mailto:article=1182&context=utk\_chanhonoproj">article=1182&context=utk\_chanhonoproj</a>

Tayo, T. (2021). Will Africa's free trade area increase inequalities? LSE Blogs. <a href="https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/africaatlse/2021/06/18/will-african-continental-free-trade-area-afcfta-increase-inequalities-issues/">https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/africaatlse/2021/06/18/will-african-continental-free-trade-area-afcfta-increase-inequalities-issues/</a>

Tayo, T.T. (2023). The Road to Africa's Single Market: Progress so far and challenges for the future. APRI. <a href="https://afripoli.org/the-road-to-africas-single-market-progress-so-far-and-challenges-for-the-future">https://afripoli.org/the-road-to-africas-single-market-progress-so-far-and-challenges-for-the-future</a>

Takefman, B. (2023). Breaking Down the AfCFTA: What You Need to Know About Africa's Latest Trade Initiative. Research FDI. <a href="https://researchfdi.com/resources/articles/breaking-down-the-afcfta-what-you-need-to-know-about-africas-latest-trade-initiative/">https://researchfdi.com/resources/articles/breaking-down-the-afcfta-what-you-need-to-know-about-africas-latest-trade-initiative/</a>

Thomas, D. (2022). What you need to know about the African Continental Free Trade Area. African Business. <a href="https://african.business/2022/05/trade-investment/what-you-need-to-know-about-the-african-continental-free-trade-area">https://african.business/2022/05/trade-investment/what-you-need-to-know-about-the-african-continental-free-trade-area</a> ess-african-continental-free-trade-area

TRALAC, (2023) Intra-Africa trade: Facts and figures 2022. https://www.tralac.org/resources/infographics/16253-intra-africa-trade-facts-and-figures-2022.html

UNDP (2023); Youth in Africa: A Demographic Imperative for Peace and Security <a href="https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/2023-05/undp-africa-youth-in-africa-2023-EN.pdf">https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/2023-05/undp-africa-youth-in-africa-2023-EN.pdf</a>

United Nations. Economic Commission for Africa (2019). African Continental Free Trade Area:Questions & Answers. Addis Ababa. © UN. ECA. <a href="https://hdl.handle.net/10855/43253">https://hdl.handle.net/10855/43253</a>.

UNCTAD, (2019). Rules of origin key to success of African Continental Free Trade Area. <a href="https://unctad.org/news/rules-origin-key-success-african-continental-free-trade-area">https://unctad.org/news/rules-origin-key-success-african-continental-free-trade-area</a>

Urama, K. C. (2020). Implementing the African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA) Agreement: Assessing Country Readiness and the Implications for Capacity Building. AfDB. <a href="https://www.afdb.org/en/news-and-events/speeches/implementing-african-continental-free-trade-area-afcfta-agreement-assessing-country-readiness-and-implications-capacity-building-opening-speech-prof-kevin-chika-urama-39093</a>

UNECA, (2016). Measuring corruption in Africa: The international dimension matters. <a href="https://www.tralac.org/documents/resources/africa/1803-african-governance-report-iv-measuring-corruption-in-africa-uneca-march-2016/file.html">https://www.tralac.org/documents/resources/africa/1803-african-governance-report-iv-measuring-corruption-in-africa-uneca-march-2016/file.html</a>

VOA News, (2024). Niger, Mali, Burkina Faso Break From ECOWAS. <a href="https://www.voanews.com/a/burkina-mali-niger-guit-west-african-bloc-ecowas/7460572.html">https://www.voanews.com/a/burkina-mali-niger-guit-west-african-bloc-ecowas/7460572.html</a>

World Bank (2020). The African Continental Free Trade Area. Washington DC: World Bank. <a href="http://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/trade/publication">http://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/trade/publication</a>

World Bank (2020). The African Continental Free Trade Area: Economic and Distributional Effects. Washington, DC: World Bank. doi:10.1596/978-1-4648-1559-1. License: Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 3.0 IGO

World Bank, (2022). Free Trade Deal Boosts Africa's Economic Development. <a href="https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/trade/publication/free-trade-deal-boosts-africa-economic-development">https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/trade/publication/free-trade-deal-boosts-africa-economic-development</a>

World Economic Forum. Insight Report (2023). AfCFTA: A New Era for Global Business and Investment in Africa. <a href="https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_Friends\_of\_the\_Africa\_Continental\_Free\_Trade\_Area\_2023.pdf">https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_Friends\_of\_the\_Africa\_Continental\_Free\_Trade\_Area\_2023.pdf</a>

#### **About the Author**



#### James Shikwati

James Shikwati is an expert on economic development in Africa. He is the founder and director of the Inter Region Economic Network, a think tank dedicated to developing innovative strategies to improve the quality of life in Africa. James Shikwati is also the founder and Chairman of the online business magazine The African Executive and Country Director of Enactus Kenya, a programme at 33 Kenyan universities. For his commitment to African youth in their entrepreneurial

spirit, he received the Jack Shewmaker Leadership Award from Enactus International in 2015. In 2008, the World Economic Forum named him a Young Global Leader. In addition, his work in the field of international development cooperation was honoured with the Walter Scheel Prize from the Friedrich Naumann Foundation for Freedom and the Freundeskreis Walter Scheel e.V. in 2015.

#### **About the Region**

#### Sub-Saharan Africa

The Sub-Saharan Africa project is managed by the Foundation's regional office in Johannesburg, South Africa, and consists of numerous project offices throughout the region - including in Cape Town, Harare, Dar es Salaam, Nairobi, Abidjan and Dakar. We support our partners in African countries in strengthening, developing and protecting liberal values and building democratic structures. We organise events, offer a platform for dialogue and facilitate study trips to Germany and Brussels.

We also coordinate regional activities, including via the network of liberal political parties ALN (African Liberal Network). Our Global Partnership Hub in Nairobi is the centre of excellence for development cooperation. A hub where knowledge is generated and innovative concepts from the global South - for a better future for North and South - are developed.

#### **Impressum**

Friedrich Naumann Foundation for Freedom (FNF) Regional Office, Sub-Saharan Africa 50 Ennis Road, Parkview Johannesburg, 2198

